A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Your Petitioner for discretionary review is Brett Everette, the 

Defendant and Appellant in this case, asks this Court to review the 

decision of the Court of Appeals referred to in section B. 

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Everette seeks review of Division Two's Unpublished 

Opinion in State v. Everette, No. 45941 "8~11 (Slip Op. filed August 

11, 2015). No Motion for Reconsideration has been filed in the 

Court of Appeals. A copy of the opinion is attached. 

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Principles of due process require that the State present 

sufficient evidence to prove each of the elements of a crJminal 

offense beyond a reasonable doubt. Should this Court grant review 

and ~old that the State has failed to sustain its burden of proving 

guilt beyond a reasonable doubt that Everette committed attempted 

kidnapping of as· required by due process? RAP 13.4(b)(3); RAP 

13.4(b)(4). 

2. Whether there is sufficient evidence· to support a 

conviction for first degree unlawful possession of a firearm where 

there is no evidence that the appellant had in his possession or 

controlled a firearm other than a statement by one witness that she 
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saw a gun, which was contradicted by another witness who said that 

he did not see a gun, and where the gun allegedly seen by the first 

witness was not recovered by law enforcement? RAP 13.4(b)(3}; 

RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

3. The jury trial provisions of the Sixth Amendment to the 

United States Constitution and Article I, section 21 of the Washington 

Constitution require jury unanimity beyond a reasonable doubt of 

every essential element of the crime charged. When evidence 

indicates two distinct acts, either one of which could form the basis of 

a crime of felony harassment, the jurors must be instructed they all 

must agree beyond a reasonable doubt on the same act. Did the trial 

court abuse its discretion in failing to give a unanimity instruction 

when the prosecution presented evidence of multiple events that 

could be construed as threatening bodily injury? RAP 13.4(b)(3); 

RAP 13.4(b)(4}. 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural facts. 

A jury convicted Everette of attempted kidnapping in the first 

degree; felony harassment; and unlawful possession of a firearm in 

the first degree. Clerk's Papers (CP) 31-33. On October 1, 2014, 

Everette filed a brief challenging the convictions. The brief set out 
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faGts and law relevant to this petition and are hereby incorporated 

herein by reference. 

2. Proceedings on Appeal. On appeal, Everette argued 

inter alia that the evidence was insufficient to convict the appellant 

of attempted kidnapping in the first degree, that there is insufficient 

evidence that he ever owned or possessed a firearm, and that trial 

court erred in denying the appellant an extension of time in which to file 

a motion for new trial. Brief of Appellant at 15. The Court rejected 

all of Everette's arguments. For the reasons set forth below, he 

seeks review. 

E. ARGUMENT 

It is submitted that the issues raised by this Petition should 

be addressed by this Court because the decision of the Court of 

Appeals raises a significant question under the Constitution of the 

State of Washington and the Constitution of the United States, as 

set forth in RAP 13.4(b). 

1. THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT 
EVIDENCE TO PROVE BEYOND A 
REASONABLE DOUBT THAT EVERETTE 
COMMITTED ATTEMPTED KIDNAPPING IN 
THE FIRST DEGREE AND UNLAWFUL 
POSSESSION OF A FIREARM. 

Principles of due process require the State to prove all 
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essential elements of the crime charged beyond a reasonable 

doubt. U.S. Const. amends. 5, 14; Const. art, I, § 3; Sandstrom v. 

Montana, 442 U.S. 510, 99 S.Ct. 2450, 61 L.Ed.2d 39 (1979); In (e 

Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 363, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970); 

State v. Baeza, 100 Wn.2d 487, 490, 670 P.2d 646 (1983). 

A· challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence admits the 

truth of the State's evidence and requires it be viewed in the light 

most favorable to the State. State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 

829 P.2d 1068 (1992); State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 220-22, 616 

P.2d 628 (1980). 

All reasonable inferences from the evidence must be drawn 

in favor of the State and interpreted most strongly against the 

defendant. Salinas, at 201; State v. Craven, 67 Wn. App. 921, 928, 

841 P.2d 774 (1992). Circumstantial evidence is no less reliable 

than direct evidence, and criminal intent may be inferred from 

conduct where "plainly indicated as a matter of logical probability." 

State v. Delmarter, 94 Wn.2d 634, 638, 618 P.2d 99 (1980). A 

claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all 

inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom. Salinas, at 

201; Craven, at 928. 

Evidence is sufficient if, viewed in the light most favorable to 
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the State, it would permit any rational trier of fact to find the 

essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. State 

v. Hendrickson, 129Wn.2d 61, 81,917 P.2d 563 (1996) ,.A 

claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence and all 

inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom... State v. 

Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192; 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992) (citation 

omitted). In determining whether the necessary quantum of proof 

exists, the reviewing court need not be convinced of the 

defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt, but only that 

substantial evidence supports the State's case. State v. Galisia, 63 

Wn. App. 833, 838, 822 P.2d 303 (1992). 

a. Attempted first degree kidnapping 

In this case, Everette took no step towards restraining Ms. 

Swanger in a place she was not likely to be found. On the contrary, 

Everette confronted Ms. Swanger in the bedroom of the house with 

Mr. Martin present. Other people, including the homeowner Maria 

Johnson, knew that Mr. Everette was there and knew where Ms. 

Swanger was located. 

The testimony shows that Mr. Everette wanted to know 

where the "missing" vehicle was located. Although Mr. Everette 

allegedly forced Ms. Swanger onto the bed and said that she could 
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not leave, his actions were not 11Strongly indicative" of an intent to 

abduct. The evidence indicates that during the alleged incident, 

Mr. Everette was simultaneously making telephone calls, 

apparently requesting other people to come to the house, including 

his girlfriend, allegedly for the purpose of beating up Ms. Swanger. 

In State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 227, 616 P.2d 628 (1980) 

the Court specifically held that incidental restraint and movement of 

a victim, standing alone, are not indicative of a true kidnapping. In 

Green, the Supreme Court held that there is insufficient evidence to 

prove kidnapping as an aggravator of murder beyond a reasonable 
~ 

doubt where the restraint and movement of the victim was merely 

"incidental" to and not "an integral part of and was independent of 

the underlying homicide." Green, 94 Wn.2d at 227. 

lT]he mere incidental restraint and movement of a 
victim which might occur during the course of a 
homicide are not, standing alone, indicia of a true 
kidnaping. 

Green, 94 Wn.2d at 227. In Green, an eyewitness saw a man snatch 

a child from a public sidewalk and take her behind a nearby 

apartment building out of view, where he killed her. State v. Green, 

94 Wn.2d at 222~23. Another witness also saw the victim being 

grabbed and taken around the building. Green, 94 Wn.2d at 224. 
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b. Unlawful possession of a firearm. 

Former RCW 9.941.040(1)(a) provides that a person is guilty 

of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree: "if the person 

owns, has in his or her possession, or has in his or her control any 

firearm after having previously convicted ... of any serious offense." 

Here, there is no uncontradicted testimony whatsoever to 

support actual possession of a gun. In this case, the only direct 

testimony about the gun was that Ms. Swanger testified that Mr. 

Everette waved a gun that she identified as a 9 mm handgun owned 

by Joey Sanchez. 12/18/13RP at 68. Her testimony is directly 

contradicted, however, by Mr. Martin, who said that he thought Mr. 

Everette had a gun during the incident, put did not actually see him 

with a gun and certainly did not see him wave or brandish a gun. 

12/19/13RP at 31, 32, 38. Ms. Johnson also stated that she did not 

see Mr. Everette with a gun when he came into her house, and that 

if she had seen him enter her house with a gun, she could have 

called the police. Because there is insufficient evidence that Mr. 

Everette possessed the gun, his conviction for unlawful possession 

must be reversed. 

The Court of Appeals' affirmance of Everette's convictions 

for attempted kidnapping and possession of a firearm was based 
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on a cursory assessment of the facts and merits review by this 

Court. 

2. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY FAILED TO 
PROVIDE A UNANIMITY INSTRUCTION ON 
FELONY HARASSMENT. 

When the evidence indicates multiple distinct acts, any one of 

which could form the basis for a conviction, either the State must 

elect which act it is relying on as the basis for the charge, or the 

court must instruct the jury it must unanimously agree that the same 

act has been proven beyond a reasonable doubt; Kitchen, 110 

Wn.2d at 411; State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 572, 683 P.2d 173 

(1984). Where neither alternative is elected, there a constitutional 

error stemming from the possibility some jurors may have relied on 

one act while other jurors relied on another. Kitchen, 110 Wn.2d at 

409; State v. Badda, 63 Wn.2d 176, 182, 385 P.2d 859 (1963). 

Here, the prosecution offered at least three acts describing 

potentially threatening conduct by Mr. Everette or alleged accomplice 

Joey Sanchez toward Ms. Swanger, The State alleged that when Mr. 

Everette was in the bedroom with Ms. Swanger and Mr. Martin, he 

threatened to kill Ms. Swanger, threatened to "put new holes in her 

head," and according to Ms. Swanger, "flashed" or waved a 9mm 

handgun. 
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No other witnesses, however, corroborated her claim that he 

had a gun, although Mr. Martin said that he thought that Mr. Everette 

had a gun. Later, Mr. Everette's accomplices allegedly pushed Ms. 

SWanger to the ground while in the alley and then attempted to drag 

her to the Pathfinder. 

Mr. Cochran said that Joey Sanchez pointed a shotgun at Ms. 

Swanger while he was in the Pathfinder. The prosecution, however, 

did not unambiguously elect any particular threat that must serve as 

the basis of felony harassment. The State argued in closing that Mr. 

Everette threatened to kill Ms. Swanger in the bedroom and that she 

was placed in fear. RP (12120113) at 67, 68. Yet the prosecution 

did not limit the jury's consideration to only a particular act or threat; 

the prosecutor also referred in closing to the shotgun allegedly 

possessed by Mr. Everette's accomplices in the Pathfinder, which 

Mr. Cochran said was pointed at Ms. Swanger. RP (12120113) at 71. 

F. CONCLUSION 

This court should accept review for the reasons indicated in 

Part E and reverse Brett Everette's convictions consistent with the 

arguments presented herein. 

I I I 

I I I