I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT 

The respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Eric H. 

Bentson, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan P. Jurvakainen, Cowlitz 

County Prosecuting Attorney. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals correctly decided this matter, holding that 

there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Everette guilty of 

attempted kidnapping in the first degree and unlawful possession of a 

firearm in the first degree and that a unanimity instruction was not 

required for Everette's felony harassment conviction because Everette's 

multiple threats were a continuing course of conduct. The respondent 

respectfully requests this Court deny review of the August 11, 2015, Court 

of Appeals' opinion in State v. Brett Everette, No. 45941-8-II, affirming 

Everette's convictions. 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Kendra Swanger was a 21-year-old woman who used heroin. RP 

12118/13 at 52. Joey Sanchez-Juarez and his brother, David Sanchez

Juarez, would provide heroin to Swanger. RP 12/18/13 at 55, 56. 

Swanger temporarily broke up with her boyfriend, Brad Martin, in late 

July and into August of2013. RP 12118/13 at 54-55. During this time, 
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Swanger had a relationship with Joey. RP 12/18/13 at 56. Swanger 

maintained a friendship with Martin. RP 12/18/13 at 56. 

Martin's stepfather, Nate Hart, agreed to trade his car to Joey for 

methamphetamine. RP 12/18/13 at 56-57. Although he took possession 

of the car, Joey did not provide methamphetamine to Hart. RP 12/18/13 at 

57. As a result, Hart asked Swanger to get the car back from Joey. RP 

12/18/13 at 57. About five days before August 12, 2013, Swanger waited 

until Joey had "nodded out from do in' too much heroin" and returned the 

car to Hart at Maria Johnson's house at 2716 Colorado Street. RP 

12/18/13 at 57-58. Hart left with the car, and Swanger hid at Johnson's 

house for five days, avoiding contact with Joey, who was angry with 

Swanger for taking the car. RP 12/18/13 at 58-59, RP 12/19113 at 150. 

Martin eventually joined Swanger at Johnson's house. RP 12118113 at 60. 

Around August 9, 2013, Joey, David, Marcus Cochran, and Brett 

Everette met to discuss what to do about Swanger. RP 12/19113 at 150-

51. During this conversation, Everette said he had people looking for 

Swanger. RP 12/19/13 at 151. Everette had a black semi-automatic 

handgun in his holster, and this gun had previously been in Joey's 

possession. RP 12/19/13 at 152-54. The group devised a plan to "do what 

it takes" to get Joey's car back, to include using violence against Swanger. 

RP 12/19/13 at 154-55. 
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At night on August 12, 2013, Joey, David, Cochran, and another 

man known as "Botto" were driving in a Nissan Pathfinder. RP 12/19/13 

at 155-57. While in the Pathfinder, Joey received a call from Everette 

saying that he had located Swanger. RP 12/19/13 at 157. The men in the 

Pathfinder drove to Johnson's house. RP 12/19/13 at 157-58. Swanger 

and Martin were in the back bedroom of Johnson's house. RP 12118/13 at 

59-60. Everette came to the door of the house and spoke with Johnson, 

who had never seen him before. RP 12/18/13 at 142-43. Everette told 

Johnson he was a friend of her boyfriend, who was in jail, and had come 

to check up on her. RP 12/18/13 at 142-43. Johnson allowed Everette to 

enter the house. RP 12/18/13 at 144. 

Once inside, Everette began asking Johnson about the whereabouts 

of Swanger and Martin. RP 12118/13 at 144. Everette appeared to be 

angry and told Johnson he wanted to find "that effin' bitch Kendra" 

because Swanger had taken the car of a cousin. RP 12118/13 at 144-45. 

During this conversation, Everette would talk to another person on the 

phone in a "hushed" voice; Johnson heard Everette tell someone to come 

to the house "ASAP." RP 12118113 at 147. After their conversation ended 

Johnson went to the bathroom, then to the kitchen. RP 12/18/13 at 148. 

Everette entered the room Swanger and Martin were in. RP at 

12118/13 at 64. Everette spoke with Martin about knowing Hart. RP 
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12/19/13 at 16. Everette then asked Martin, "Is this your bitch, Kendra?" 

RP 12/18/13 at 65. Everette became "real threatening and aggressive." 

RP at 12/19/13 at 16. He asked Swanger, "So, what's up with my 

homey's car?'' RP 12/18/13 at 65. Swanger told Everette that she did not 

know, that she was not afraid of him, and attempted to leave the room. RP 

12118113 at 65. Everette responded by grabbing Swanger by her hair and 

neck, throwing her down onto a bed, and holding her down. RP 12/18/13 

at 65-67. Everette said "nobody was leaving." RP 12/18113 at 65. 

Everette told Swanger he was not afraid to go back to prison, to smash her 

face in, or to kill her. RP 12/18/13 at 66. Swanger feared she would die. 

RP 12/18/13 at 96-97. Everette repeatedly told Martin, "You need to get 

your bitch to tell me where Joey's car is at." RP 12/18/13 at 69. Swanger 

looked at Martin, who appeared frightened, was looking in the opposite 

direction, and was avoiding eye contact with her and Everette. RP 

12118/13 at 67-68. 

Everette told Swanger he was "gonna put some new holes" in her 

head and also said that his "homies" had a "Mossberg" in the car. 1 RP 

12119/13 at 17. Due to observing Everette gesturing and reaching for the 

beltline of his pants under his loose shirt, Martin believed Everette had a 

gun on his person. RP 12/19/13 at 20, 28, 30-31. However, Martin who 

1 "Mossberg" was a reference to a shotgun. RP 12/19/13 at 17. 
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chose to use heroin while this was occurring, did not personally observe 

the gun. RP at 12/19113 at 31, 44, 48. Everette "flashed" a black 9-

millimeter handgun at Swanger. RP 12/18113 at 68. Swanger was 

familiar with this gun, as it looked like the black handgun she had 

previously seen Joey with. RP 12118/13 at 68. 

While in the bedroom, Everette used a cell phone to call his 

girlfriend "Sarah" to come over and beat up Swanger. RP 12/18/13 at 69; 

RP 12/19/13 at 20-21. Everette also called Dillon Payne and instructed 

him to "go find David and Joey and get them over to where [Swanger] was 

at" and provided the location, saying: "Hurry up, I have 'em, I know 

where they're at. We're on Colorado Street." RP 12/18/13 at 70; RP 

12/19/13 at 21. Everette continued to intimidate Swanger by stating: 

"This isn't a game bitch" and told her she was "fucking his homies" and 

that "he wasn't gonna fall for her little game that she was playing." RP 

12/19/13 at 22. Everette held Swanger and Martin in the room for 

approximately 30 minutes. RP 12119/13 at 25. Because Swanger was 

aware that Everette, David, and Joey all carried guns, she became 

extremely afraid and began to cry and hyperventilate. RP 12118113 at 70-

71. Johnson entered the room and Swanger exited the bedroom with her. 

RP 12/18/13 at 71. Everette followed them. RP 12118/13 at 71. Everette 
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continued to ask where Joey's vehicle was and told Swanger that money, 

drugs, and jewelry were inside the vehicle. RP 12/18/13 at 71. 

Everette took Swanger back into the bedroom, and left her there 

with Martin. RP 12/18/13 at 71. Martin turned a skateboard upside down 

and shoved it underneath the door to the bedroom to prevent it from 

opening. RP 12/18/13 at 71. Martin then removed the screen from the 

bedroom window, and he and Swanger exited the house onto a garbage 

can under the window. RP 12/18/13 at 71. Swanger and Martin ran 

through a gate in Johnson's backyard onto gravel. RP 12118/13 at 75-76. 

Swanger tripped and fell; Martin continued to run. RP 12/18/13 at 76. As 

Martin ran, he heard the sound of Swanger screaming. RP 12/19/13 at 26. 

As the men in the Pathfinder approached Johnson's house, Joey 

received another phone call from Everette, which he placed on speaker. 

RP 12/19/13 at 15 8. Everette said, "She got out of the house. Get her 

before she gets to the cops." RP 12/19/13 at 158. Everette then instructed 

the men in the car on where to take Swanger, saying, "Finish up with the 

plans and get her to Rainier Beach." RP 12/19/13 at 158. The men sought 

to take Swanger to a "secluded" location, so they would not be seen with 

her in a location that was in the "open." RP 12/19/13 at 165. 

The men in the Pathfinder drove down an alley and observed 

Swanger picking herself up off the ground. RP 12/19/13 at 159. Joey told 

6 



Botto and Cochran to get up so he could grab a shotgun from under the 

backseat. RP 12/19/13 at 159. Joey pointed the shotgun out the window 

at Swanger and yelled, "Where the fuck's my car?" RP 12119/13 at 161. 

David accelerated in the Pathfinder to catch up to Swanger. RP 12/19/13 

at 161-62. Joey, Botto, and Cochran exited the Pathfinder. RP 12/19/13 

at 162. Joey pulled Swanger by the shoulder backwards onto the ground. 

RP 12118113 at 77-78. Joey began kicking Swanger on the ground. RP 

12/19/13 at 162. Because the alley was visible to others, it was not 

feasible to beat Swanger further in the alley. RP 12119/13 at 165. Rather, 

"they tried to get her into the truck to take her to a secluded area, a place." 

RP 12119/13 at 165. Joey and Cochran took hold of Swanger and dragged 

her between 10 and 20 feet toward the Pathfinder. RP 12/18/13 at 78; RP 

12/19/13 at 163. Swanger was terrified for her life; she screamed for them 

to stop. RP 12/18/13 at 78-79; RP 12/19/13 at 163. As they approached 

the Pathfinder, Swanger observed the shotgun having fallen from the front 

passenger side of the vehicle. RP 12118/13 at 79. 

Robert Ross lived in a house nearby Johnson's. RP at 12/18/13 at 

43-44. He heard the sound of the Pathfinder skidding to a stop and 

Swanger screaming. RP at 12/18/13 at 44-46. His wife called 911. RP at 

12/18/13 at 45. Cochran told Joey, "Let's go, the cops are coming." RP at 

12119/13 at 163-64. Joey and Cochran released Swanger, then the men 
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returned to the Pathfinder. RP at 12/18/13 at 79. Ross saw at least three 

men enter the Pathfinder and speed off. RP at 12/18/13 at 45-46. Ross 

observed Swanger to be "very frightened, scared, [and] shaken up." RP at 

12/18/13 at 47. 

Police arrived and contacted Swanger, who was trembling and 

crying. RP at 12118113 at 80; RP 12/19/13 at 59. When police questioned 

Swanger about whether she believed Everette was going to kill her she 

responded, "I truly believed this was it for me." RP at 12/19/13 at 84. 

Police located the Pathfinder backed into a parking stall in the alley 

between Dorothy Street and 33rd Avenue. RP at 12/19/13 at 87. After 

permission was granted, a police search of the Pathfinder revealed a white 

powdery substance, needles, a scale, multiple electronic items, tools, two 

baseball bats, three cell phones, a blue tarp, and a 12-gauge shotgun. 2 RP 

at 12/19113 at 88-90.96, 100. 

Everette was eventually located on September 5, 2013; after a 

struggle with police, he was taken into custody. RP at 12/19113 at 133-36. 

Everette was charged with attempted kidnapping in the first degree, felony 

harassment, and unlawful possession of a firearm. CP at 31-33. The case 

proceeded to trial, and the jury found Everette guilty of all three charges. 

RP 12/20/13 at 132. These convictions were affirmed. 

2 The shotgun recovered was an Ithaca Model 37. RP 12/19113 at 90. 
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IV. THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW OF THE COURT 
OF APPEALS DECISION 

Because Everette's petition fails to raise a significant question of 

law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United 

States, it should be denied. Under RAP 13.4(b) a petition for review will 

be accepted by the Supreme Court only: 

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with a decision of the Supreme Court; or 

(2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict 
with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or 

(3) If a significant question of law under the 
Constitution of the State of Washington or of the 
United States is involved; or 

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public 
interest that should be determined by the Supreme 
Court. 

Everette's sole claim under RAP 13.4(b) is that his petition raises a 

significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of 

·washington or the United States. Everette's argument fails. The Court of 

Appeals correctly found that (1) there was sufficient evidence for the jury 

to find Everette guilty of attempted kidnapping in the first degree; (2) 

there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Everette guilty of 

unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree; and, (3) no unanimity 

instruction was required for Everette's felony harassment conviction 

because the threats represented a continuing course of conduct. For these 

reasons, Everette's petition fails to raise a significant question of law 
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under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States, 

and does not meet the criteria required for review under RAP 13.4(b). 

A. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find 
Everette guilty of attempted kidnapping in the 
first degree. 

There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Everette guilty of 

attempted kidnapping in the first degree. The Washington Supreme Court 

has stated: 

When the sufficiency of the evidence is challenged in a 
criminal case, all reasonable inferences from the evidence 
must be drawn in favor of the State and interpreted most 
strongly against the defendant. A claim of insufficiency 
admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences 
that can be drawn therefrom. 

State v. Salinas, 119 Wn.2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068 (1992 (citing State v. 

Partin, 88 Wn.2d 899, 906-07, 567 P.2d 1136 (1977). When determining 

the sufficiency of evidence the standard of review is "whether, after 

viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any 

rational trier of fact could have found the necessary facts to be proven 

beyond a reasonable doubt." State v. Green, 94 Wn.2d 216, 221, 616 P.2d 

628 (1980). A reviewing court must defer to the trier of fact on issues of 

conflicting testimony, credibility of witnesses, and the persuasiveness of 

the evidence. State v. Walton, 64 Wn.App. 410, 415-16, 824 P.2d 533, 

review denied, 119 Wn.2d 1011 (1992). 
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The crime of kidnapping in the first degree, as is applicable in this 

case, is defined as follows: "A person is guilty of kidnapping in the first 

degree if he or she intentionally abducts another person with intent ... (c) 

[t]o inflict bodily injury on him or her; or (d) [t]o inflict extreme mental 

distress on [her]." RCW 9A.40.020(1)(c)(d). According to RCW 

9A.40.010(1): '"Abduct' means to restrain a person by either (a) secreting 

or holding him or her in a place where he or she is not likely to be found, 

or (b) using or threatening to use deadly force." "A person is guilty of an 

attempt to commit a crime if, with intent to commit a specific crime, he or 

she does any act which is a substantial step toward the commission of that 

crime." RCW 9A.28.020(1). Thus, in convicting Everette of attempted 

kidnapping in the first degree, the jury found that Everette took a 

substantial step toward intentionally abducting Swanger with intent to 

inflict bodily injury upon her or to inflict extreme mental distress. 

In his appellate brief, Everette conceded that when he held 

Swanger in the room, he restrained her. Appellant's Court of Appeals 

Brief at 18. However, Everette argues that there was insufficient evidence 

of restraint to show that Swanger was held in a place she was not likely to 

be found, by claiming the restraint was "incidental." Everette's argument 

is without merit. First, incidental restraint does not create a due process 

claim of sufficiency of the evidence with regard to kidnapping, and "this 
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argument ignores the fact that RCW 9A.40.010(1) allows the State to 

prove abduction by establishing that the defendant restrained a person [by] 

using or threatening to use deadly force." Court of Appeals' opinion in 

State v. Brett Everette, No. 45941-8-II at 5. Second, Everette fails to 

consider the evidence of his complicity in the attempt to secret Swanger in 

a place she was unlikely to be found. 

1. Sufficient evidence was presented for the 
jury to find that Everette took a 
substantial step toward restraining 
Swanger by threatening deadly force. 

Because Everette restrained Swanger by threatening the use of 

deadly force, sufficient evidence was presented for the jury to convict him 

of attempted kidnapping in the first degree. With regard to attempted 

kidnapping, "[t]he abduction element of the crime may be established by 

proving the defendant restrained a person by 'using or threating to use 

deadly force."' State v. Majors, 82 Wn.App. 843, 846, 919 P.2d 1258 

(1996). Although Everette concedes he restrained Swanger and does not 

argue that he failed to do so by threatening deadly force, he maintains that 

this was "incidental restraint" that was insufficient evidence of attempted 

kidnapping. Everette's argument is flawed. Incidental restraint does not 

apply to due process claims of sufficiency of the evidence as Everette 

argues it should here. Further, there was sufficient evidence presented that 
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Everette took a substantial step toward restraining Swanger by threatening 

to use deadly force. 

The Supreme Court recently addressed confusion regarding the 

application of "incidental restraint" to kidnapping. State v. Berg, 181 

Wn.2d 857, 337 P.3d 310 (2014). In Berg, the defendants held the victim 

on the ground at gunpoint for approximately 30 minutes and repeatedly 

threatened to kill him if he moved. !d. at 872-73. The defendants argued 

that the evidence of kidnapping was insufficient because it was merely 

incidental to a robbery. Id at 862. The Supreme Court stated: "This 

court has never held that evidence of kidnapping is insufficient where the 

kidnapping conduct is incidental to another crime as a matter of due 

process." Id at 872. The Court clarified that a prior ruling in Green, "did 

not create a new requirement that due process is not satisfied when 

kidnapping conduct is incidental to the commission of another crime." Id 

at 873. The Court held that by restraining the victim's movements 

through the threat of deadly force, sufficient evidence was presented for 

the jury to find an abduction occurred. Id 

Here, Everette argues that due process was not satisfied as to the 

sufficiency of the evidence by claiming restraint was "incidental" under 

Green. This is precisely the analysis rejected by the Supreme Court in 

Berg. If evidence of restraint is sufficient, it does not become insufficient 

13 



simply because it is incidental to another crime. Further, there was ample 

evidence of restraint by threat of deadly force. After forcing Swanger 

onto the bed, holding her down, and saying nobody could leave, Everette 

told Swanger he was not afraid to go back to prison, smash her face in, or 

kill her. Everette said that his "homies" had a "Mossberg" down in the 

car, referring to the shotgun. He threatened to shoot Swanger, saying that 

he was "gonna put some new holes" in her head. Finally, he produced a 

black 9-millimeter handgun as she stood over Swanger. He threatened the 

use of deadly force while restraining Swanger in the room for 30 minutes. 

Swanger was so afraid that she attempted to escape by exiting the house 

through a window. Everette then made further attempts to restrain her by 

instructing the men in the Pathfinder to "[g]et her before she gets to the 

cops[,]" and to take her to "Rainier Beach." Thus, there was sufficient 

evidence for the jury to find Everette took a substantial step toward 

abducting Swanger when he restrained her by threatening deadly force. 

2. Sufficient evidence was presented for the 
jury to fmd that Everette was an 
accomplice to attempting to secret or hold 
Swanger in a place she was unlikely to be 
found. 

When all reasonable inferences are drawn in favor of the State and 

against Everette, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Everette 

guilty as an accomplice to attempted kidnapping in first degree. The law 
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regarding accomplice liability is well-established: "The complicity rule in 

Washington is that any person who participates in the commission of the 

crime is guilty of the crime and is charged as a principal." State v. Silva

Baltazar, 125 Wn.2d 472, 480, 886 P.2d 138 (1994). "Accomplice 

liability represents a legislative decision that one who participates in a 

crime is guilty as a principal, regardless of the degree of the participation." 

State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 804 P.2d 577 (1991) (citing State v. 

Randle, 47 Wn.App. 232, 237, 734 P.2d 51 (1987), review denied, 110 

Wn.2d 1008 (1988)). As the a plain reading of the statute reveals, 

complicity is broadly defined and represents a legislative attempt to deter 

any person from participating in a crime. See RCW 9A.08.020. 

Accomplice liability attaches when the defendant has knowledge that his 

actions will promote or facilitate the commission of the particular crime at 

issue. State v. Bauer, 180 Wn.2d 929, 943, 329 P.3d 67 (2014) (citing 

State v. Stein, 144 Wn.2d 236,245,27 P.3d 184 (2001)). 

Here, there was sufficient evidence to find that an attempt was 

made to secret Swanger in a place where she was unlikely to be found, and 

that Everette was an accomplice to this attempt. During the trial, the jury 

heard testimony that a few days prior to August 12, 2013, David, Joey, 

Cochran, and Everette met to discuss Swanger and devised a plan to "do 

what it takes" to get Joey's car back, to include using violence against 
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Swanger. Everette called Joey when he had found Swanger and provided 

her location. Everette's comment that his "homies," had a "Mossberg" 

down in the car was corroborated when the shotgun was located in the 

Pathfinder. After Everette threatened Swanger and she escaped, he called 

the men in the Pathfinder and informed them that Swanger had fled, 

saying, "She got out of the house. Get her before she gets to the cops." 

Everette instructed them to "[fJinish up with the plans and get her to 

Rainier Beach." Upon receiving this call, the men in the Pathfinder drove 

to Swanger's location, pulled her to the ground, assaulted her, and dragged 

her 10-20 feet toward the Pathfinder. The purpose of getting her into the 

Pathfinder was to take her to a secluded location. This demonstrated that 

with knowledge it would promote or facilitate the crime of attempted 

kidnapping, Everette solicited, commanded, encouraged, or requested 

another to commit the crime or aided or agreed to aid another in planning 

or committing the crime. Thus, there was sufficient evidence for the jury 

to find Everette was an accomplice to attempting to restrain Swanger by 

secreting or holding her in a place she was not likely to be found. 

B. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find 
Everette guilty of unlawful possession of a 
firearm in the first degree. 

When considered in the light most favorable to the State and 

interpreted most strongly against Everette, there was sufficient evidence 
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for the jury to find Everette unlawfully possessed a firearm in the first 

degree.3 "A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State's evidence 

and all inferences that can be drawn therefrom." Salinas, 119 Wn.2d at 

201. The jury heard testimony from Cochran that a few days prior to the 

August 12, 2013, he observed Everette with a black .45 caliber or 9-

millimeter handgun that had previously belonged to Joey. Everette 

possessed this gun when he discussed looking for Swanger. Swanger 

observed Everette display a 9-millimeter handgun that she had previously 

seen in Joey's possession. Further, at the time Swanger observed the gun, 

Everette was threatening to kill her and put holes in her head. If the jury 

found Swanger and Cochran's testimony regarding direct observation of 

Everette in possession of the handgun to be credible, this evidence was 

sufficient to find Everette guilty. 

C. Because the threats were a continuing course of 
conduct, Everette's felony harassment conviction 
did not require a unanimity instruction. 

Because Everette's threats to Swanger were a continuing course of 

conduct, a unanimity instruction as not required. "A multiple acts 

unanimity instruction is not required when the State presents evidence of 

multiple acts that indicate a 'continuing course of conduct."' State v. 

Locke, 175, Wn.App. 779, 803, 307 P.3d 771 (2013) (citing State v. 

3 Everette was not permitted to possess a ftrearm by virtue of having been convicted of a 
serious offense on October I 0, 2002. RP 12/19113 at 206; CP at 34. 
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Crane, 116 Wn.2d 315, 326, 804 P.2d 10 (1991); State v. Love, 80 

Wn.App. 357, 361, 908 P.2d 395 (1996)). The unanimity requirement 

announced in Petrich was never intended to require a unanimity 

instruction where "a continuing course of conduct may form the basis of 

one charge in an information." State v. Petrich, 101 Wn.2d 566, 570, 571, 

683 P.2d 173 (1984). As an example of a continuing offense, the Petrich 

Court cited People v. Mota, 115 Cal.App.3d 227, 171 Cal.Rptr. 212 

( 1981 ), where a repeated gang rape of a victim over a several hour period 

was held to be a continuing offense as to each defendant. !d. When the 

State presents evidence of multiple acts that indicate a continuing course 

of conduct, a unanimity instruction is not required. /d. at 803 (citing 

Crane, 116 Wn.2d at 326; Love, 80 Wn.App. at 361). The jury must 

simply agree that the conduct occurred. State v. Marko, 107 Wn.App. 

215, 220, 27 P.3d 228 (2001). '"A continuing course of conduct requires 

an ongoing enterprise with a single objective."' Locke, 175 Wn.App. at 

803 (quoting Love, 80 Wn.App. at 361). "The defendant's actions must be 

evaluated in a 'commonsense manner' to determine whether it forms one 

continuing offense." Marko, 107 Wn.App. at 220 (citing Petrich, 101 

Wn.2d at 571). Courts must distinguish whether the evidence was of one 

continuous offense or several distinct acts. Locke, 175 Wn.App. at 802-03 

(citing Love, 80 Wn.App. at 361). 
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"Washington courts have found a continuing course of conduct in 

cases where multiple acts of the charged crime were committed with a 

single purpose against one victim in a short period oftime." !d. at 803-04. 

The Court of Appeals has explained: 

The continuing course of conduct exception has been 
applied to multiple acts of assault over a two-hour time 
period resulting in a fatal injury, Crane, 116 Wn.2d at 330; 
to acts of assault occurring in one place, during a short 
period of time, by the same aggressor upon a single victim, 
in an attempt to secure sexual relations, State v. Handran, 
113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 77e P.2d 453 (1989); to acts taken 
collectively to promote prostitution State v. Gooden, 51 
Wn.App. 615, 620, 754 P.2d 1000, review denied, 111 
Wn.2d 1012 (1988) and to acts of assault for the purposes 
of intimidating a witness, United States v. Berardi, 675 
F.2d 894 (7th Cir.1982). 

Love, 80 Wn.App. at 361. This analysis demonstrates that when acts are 

close in time and place and involve a single victim, courts generally find a 

continuing course of conduct. 

Here, the threatening conduct occurred within a short period of

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